ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD
P.O. Box 1149 Juneau, Alaska 99802

MARK D. JOHNSON,
0



)


Employee, 
)
DECISION AND ORDER


Applicant,
)
AWCB Case No. 607625



)
AWCB Decision No. 88-0220


v.
)



)
Filed with AWCB Anchorage

PARKER DRILLING COMPANY,
)
August 17, 1988



)


Employer,
)



)


and
)



)

INSURANCE COMPANY OF NORTH
)

AMERICA,

)



)


Insurer,
)


Defendants.
)



)


This claim was heard at Anchorage, Alaska on August 3, 1988. Employee was present and represented by attorney Johanna Munson. Defendants were represented by attorney James Hutchins. The record closed at the end of the hearing.

ISSUES

1. Is Employee's alcohol abuse problem a compensable condition resulting from the industrial injury?


2. Is Employee's alcohol abuse problem disabling? If so, for what period?


3. Is Employee entitled to payment for the expense of psychological treatment for his condition?


4. What is Employee's gross weekly earnings?


5. Is Employee entitled to a penalty because Defendants unilaterally reduced his compensation rate?


6. Is Employee entitled to vocational rehabilitation benefits?


7. Is Employee entitled to actual attorney's fees, costs and interest?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE AND CLAIM HISTORY

It is undisputed that Employee was injured in the course and scope of his employment as an oil rig floorhand with Parker Drilling on April 28, 1986, when a piece of metal flew into his eye.


Defendants accepted the claim, and began paying temporary total disability (TTD) benefits at the weekly rate of $597.86. Because Employee was unemployed in 1984 and for ten months of 1985, Defendant computed his TTD rate by dividing his total earnings in 1986 by 18.5, which is the number of weeks in 1986 before the injury. (Compensation Report May 28, 1986).


According to Faye Upchurch, Employer's administrative manager, at the time of the injury Employee was paid $20.48 when he worked as a floorhand and $19.84 per hour when he worked as a roustabout. (Upchurch Dep., p. 6) At that time, floorhands worked a schedule of two weeks on, and then one week off work. This meant they worked 35 weeks of the year. (Id. at 10).


On December 17, 1986, Employee filed an Application for Adjustment of Claim seeking a increase in his TTD benefits to $638.24 per week.


On January 9, 1987, Defendants reduced Employee's TTD rate to $523.12 effective December 28, 1986, based on Employer's reduction of wages to floorhands, and its employees in general. In May 1986 Employer reduced the hourly pay for floorhands to $16.48 and roughnecks to $15.00. The number of weeks worked per year was reduced to 26. (Id. at 9 ‑ 10). Other employers in the industry paid more per hour to floorhands, but paid about the same to roustabouts according to Bob Mead a former chairman of the Alaska Chapter of the Association of International Association of Drillers. (Mead Dep. Exhibits A ‑ C).


Defendants claimed an overpayment of $2,366.63, which they began recovering by reducing Employee's weekly TTD benefits by 20 percent. (Compensation Report January 9, 1987).


Employee argues that a vocational rehabilitation evaluation demonstrates that he could be earning $20.00 per hour but for the injury. (Mayes August 28, 1987 Evaluation Report). Thus, his gross weekly earnings should be increased, and the Defendants should be penalized for unilaterally reducing his compensation rate.


Employee, who is now 28 years old, left school in the 12th grade to attend welders' helpers' training. He also attended heavy duty mechanics training for two to three months. He received his GED. (Id. at 14 ‑ 15).


He first worked on the TransAlaska Pipeline as a member of Pipeliners' Local 798. He worked on the North Slope as a roughneck through the Teamsters Union from January 1977 through September 1978. (Johnson Dep. pp. 12 14). He left the pipeline work when the construction was finished. (Id. at 28)


Employee testified at the hearing that he has worked seasonally in the fishing industry as a forklift operator and a laborer. Between 1979 and 1982 he worked primarily fishing and crabbing. He made between $6.50 and $7.25 per hour in these jobs. (Johnson Dep. p. 23 ‑ 24). He left the fishing industry because there was no money in it. (Id. at 28)


In 1983 Employee worked for Smith Security for about three months. He testified in his deposition that he. made $5.25 per hour. (Id. at 25). At the hearing, Employee testified he made $4.75 per hour working for Smith Security. He testified that he quit working for Smith Security because of the low pay. Defendants introduced medical records which indicate Employee was fired by Smith Security for drinking on the job. (Wood Dep., Exhibit 3). Employee testified he had quit, and was not drinking on the job.


During 1984 Employee was not employed as he was recuperating from an assault. (Johnson Dep. p. 25). Employee testified at the hearing that between 1983 and 1985 he looked for work in the oil industry. He regularly checked with Employer for work. During this period he also got day labor jobs through the State of Alaska, Job Service Office. These jobs lasted one to three days. He was employed an average of three times a week. He was paid between $5.00 and $8.00 per hour.


In 1985 Employee worked for Employer and made a total of $8,670.08. (Defendants' Exhibit C). Employee testified that he might have had other earnings in 1985, but he was not sure.


After two surgeries, Thomas Harrison, M.D., reported that Employee has correctable visual acuity in the right eye to 20/200. Dr. Harrison reported Employee has 100% central visual loss in his right eye. (Harrison September 30, 1987 letter). Dr. Harrison released Employee to return to work without restriction as of March 5, 1987. (Harrison March 4, 1987 report)


In October 1986 Defendants had asked Duane Mayes to provide vocational rehabilitation assistance to Employee. (Mayes October 22, 1986 letter). Apparently Mayes and Employee met with John Haynes of Parker Drilling Company on March 2, 1987, Haynes told them company policy would not permit Employee's returning to work on an oil rig because of the safety risk caused by the loss of vision in his right eye. Haynes also indicated there were no other positions in the company in which Employee could be placed. (Mayes August 28, 1987 letter).


Employee thought he would be able to return to construction work in King Salmon in April 1987 on a project at the airstrip. He had a friend who was to be head foreman and would hire him. He would have been paid $26.50 per hour. Unfortunately, the friend did not win the bid for the project, and Employee was not hired on the job. (Johnson Dep. pp. 57 ‑ 58).


Mayes reviewed Employee's education and work experience. He did a labor market survey. Mayes concluded Employee has transferrable skills which enable him to return to suitable gainful employment. Jobs as a general laborer and in construction are available which he can perform with his impaired vision. The pay ranges from a low of $7.00 for non‑union work to a high of $28.00 for union Work, (Mayes August 27, 1987 Evaluation Report).


During 1987 two prehearings were held. The issues were identified as the compensation rate, rehabilitation benefits and a penalty. (August 17, 1987 and October 12, 1987 Prehearing Conference Summaries).


At the October 15, 1987, rehabilitation conference Defendants alleged that Employee had not cooperated with the vocational rehabilitation counselor and job placement efforts. Apparently Mayes alleged Employee had an alcohol abuse problem. Employee indicated his lack of cooperation may have been because of financial hardship imposed by the TTD rate reduction. (Rehabilitation Conference Summary Sheet, October 15, 1987).


Employee contacted Mitchell Wetherhorn, Ph.d., on October 28, 1987, for psychological treatment. (Wetherhorn Dep. 2324). Employee told Dr. Wetherhorn that he was depressed, felt rejected because Employer would not let him return to work, was drinking heavily, spending money foolishly, and had become destructive. (Id. at 24). Apparently as early as January 1987 Employee had sought help for his alcohol abuse, but had not followed through with the treatment when he learned he would have to speak before a group about his drinking. (Robinson July 16, 1988, letter; Wetherhorn Dep. pp. 24 ‑ 25).


Wetherhorn filed a report dated November 9, 1987, with us and Defendants showing his first date of treatment was October 26, 1987. The billing submitted at the hearing as Defendants' Exhibit B shows a $100.00 charge for a "no show" on October 26, 1987. Wetherhorn testified at the hearing that this meant Employee made an appointment, but failed to keep it.


Wetherhorn's November 9, 1988, report does not give the date of injury, just April, 1985. It does not indicate in item number 22 whether the condition was work related. Under remarks, Wetherhorn stated: "Psychotherapy ‑ MMPI testing per Dr. Johnstone . . . Post traumatic stress disorder. As of 11/9/87 services discontinued per conversation with Johanna Munson . . . .”


In his November 27, 1987, report Wetherhorn again did not complete item 22 regarding the work‑relatedness of the condition. In his remarks Wetherhorn stated "Patient returns for therapy to deal with bereavement ‑ loss of job & vision & ramifications.”


On December 11, 1987, Wetherhorn reported a diagnosis of auto stress reaction and commented that "Pt is working thru a grief reaction, disbelief & bereavement . . . .”


Employee filed a claim for work‑related psychological disability on December 15, 1987. (Application for Adjustment of Claim, December 15, 1987). On December 29, 1987, Defendants filed a Notice to Controvert Payment of Benefits, controverting Wetherhorn's charges, The reason given for the controversion was "[t]here is no demonstration of any connection between treatment provided and work injury."


Wetherhorn's January 4, 1988, report referred to a copy of a letter sent to Hutchins. In that letter Wetherhorn stated "It was my conclusion after seeing Mr. Johnson that he was behaving in a passive aggressive fashion as a reaction to his loss of eyesight and loss of vision in a large section of his visual field . . . . “


Wetherhorn's charges from October 26, 1987, to June 15, 1988, total $4,650.00. Of that total, $900,00 is "no show" charges. There is also a $100.00 charge for consultation with Employee's attorney, and another $100‑00 for consultation with Employee and his attorney.


On January 14, 1988, Bruce Johnstone, M.D., first treated Employee. He filed a report in which he stated that Wetherhorn had referred Employee to him. Johnstone indicated that it was undetermined whether Employee's condition was work related. In remarks, Johnstone stated "Alcoholism with anxiety & depression, Started on Antabuse. Alcoholism seems to have at least been aggravated by events following industrial accident."


On January 26, 1988, Defendants requested Employee submit to an examination by Douglas Robinson, M.D., a psychiatrist, in Seattle, Washington. Employee refused to do so. (Johnson Dep. pp. 66‑67). Defendants petitioned us to order Employee to attend the examination. On March 30, 1988, we entered an oral order directing Employee to attend the examination. Defendants sent Employee to Seattle for the examination, but he failed to keep the appointment. Subsequently, Defendants had Robinson fly to Anchorage and examine Employee.


Robinson diagnosed alcohol dependence, adjustment disorder, possible depression which could not be accurately diagnosed because of the heavy use of alcohol, and probably passive‑aggressive personality disorder. Robinson found no evidence of posttraumatic stress disorder because the injury was not accompanied by a dramatic emotional reaction, no intrusive recollections of the event, no nightmares with vulnerability themes, no avoidance of situations similar to the accident, or uneasiness in situations (Robinson July 16, 1988 reminiscent of the accident. letter).


Regarding the relationship of Employee's alcohol problems to the accident Robinson testified in his July 27, 1988 deposition:

Q [I]sn't it possible that the actual loss of his eye, which is directly related to why Parker did not rehire him, played a significant role in the acceleration of his drinking problem?

A Well, you know, I think the chain of events is clear. And I would agree with you there. As to whether they played a direct role or not, I guess, that's a matter of interpretation.

Q Okay. So isn't it fair to say that the loss of his eye in combination with the loss of him employment were in fact the significant factors which accelerated his drinking problems?

A Well, again, I don't really put it as the loss of his eye, I put it as the loss of his job I'm not comfortable with saying that the eye in combination with the loss of job. To me it's the loss of the job.

(Robinson Dep. pp. 44 ‑45).


Robinson's had stated the following conclusions his July 16, 1988, report:

A psychiatric condition was present before the industrial injury and appears to have been exacerbated by it. This is in reference to the use of alcohol, which has become more intense and less controlled since the injury. This appears to have been a product of interference of his usual employment, and probably would have remitted upon return to employment . . . .

The most effective treatment would be return to gainful employment. It is my opinion that were he gainfully employed in an occupation he enjoyed, the drinking would come under control, at least to the degree present prior to the injury. At that point, I do not believe that significant residuals of psychiatric effects would be present.

In lieu of that, he is likely to benefit from an inpatient treatment program. He is drinking in an out‑of‑control fashion, and it is likely that an inpatient alcohol program would be effective in a achieving sobriety. He ‑is motivated to improve his life at the present time, and gives clear warnings that encouraging disability patterns or continuing him on timeloss and interfering with productive and adaptive behavior is likely to be destructive to him.

The patient is capable of gainful employment from a psychiatric standpoint. At least, a trial of employment seems worth considering. Should his drinking remain out of control and interfere with employment, then the logical next step would be inpatient alcohol treatment, with the expectation that he return to gainful employment upon discharge.

No permanent impairment of mental well‑being is anticipated once a stable level of adaptation is achieved.


In his deposition, Robinson testified that he believes the Employee was able to return to work about the time he sought treatment for his abuse of alcohol.

There were relapses where he would drink heavily for days on end. For the most part he would go through ten‑day periods of time of sobriety, then, something would happen and he would return to drinking for a few days followed by another approximately ten‑day period of sobriety. It was my feeling at that time that he could have returned to work somewhere around the time of his treatment at the alcohol center.

(Robinson Dep. p. 13)


Robinson also testified: "Well, it may not have been exactly what it was prior to the injury, but it was close enough that I think he had enough control over it that he could have returned to work, yes," (Id. at 49).


At the hearing Defendants introduced medical records regarding Employee's treatment for various conditions at which time indications of alcohol consumption were noted by the physicians. (Wood and Hayes Dep. Exhibits). Some of these events occurred in 1975. Employee testified he had a DWI in June 1978 which required him to go to alcohol screening. (Johnson Dep. P. 33). At the hearing Employee testified that the alcohol screening for the 1978 DWI was done in 1990.


Terry Templeton, Employee's common law wife, testified that before the injury, Employee drank mostly on weekends, and occasionally on week days. He mostly drank beer and occasionally schnapps, He usually drank two or three weekends out of the month. (Templeton Dep. pp. 6, 16). He would sometimes drink on the weekends until he was drunk. (Id. at 17). He rarely drank by himself or in bars. (Id. at 7).


After the injury, Employee drank steadily. Recently he is better, but he still drinks occasionally during the weekdays. (Id. at 15),


Employee's friend John Adams testified he and Employee worked together before the April 1986 accident. Occasionally, they would have a couple beers after work on Friday night. (Adams Dep. p. 6). It was usually four or five beers, nothing but beer, and usually they quit drinking by 9 or 10 p.m. This would occur a couple of times a month. Once in awhile they might have one beer after work at Employee's home. Before April 1986, Adams had not seen Employee drunk. (Id. 6 ‑ 7). Adams testified that in early 1987 Employee was drinking more than before 1986. Adams believes Employee was drinking more in 1987 than he is now. (Id. at 21 ‑23). Adams testified that Employee is usually drunk half the time he sees him, and this is usually on weekends. (Id. at 20).


Wetherhorn diagnosed Employee as having a Post‑traumatic stress disorder. He has been treating Employee's alcohol abuse problem with psychotherapy. At the hearing, Wetherhorn testified that it would require about one or two months of twice weekly treatments to determine if Employee's alcohol abuse problem will be controlled with out‑patient treatment or will require inpatient treatment.


Robinson disagrees with Wetherhorn's diagnosis of posttraumatic stress disorder. (Robinson Dep. pp. 21, 26 ‑ 34). Robinson believes Employee's suffers from an adjustment disorder with mixed emotional features. (Id. at 10).


Robinson believes the Employee's foremost need is to return to work and, in connection with returning to work, he may need some psychiatric treatment; he may require inpatient alcohol treatment at some point. (Id. at 35). He agreed that Employee needed psychological counseling following the injury. Robinson testified that what Employee needed most was inpatient care, and to treat with psychotherapy is an error. (Id. at 35 ‑ 36). Psychotherapy is not effective for alcohol dependence. (Id. at 38). However, Robinson went on to say that he did not mean that Wetherhorn should Dot have been treating Employee with psychotherapy, but was talking in general terms. (Id. at 40).


Employee argues the injury aggravated his pre‑existing social drinking pattern and caused his abuse of alcohol. Employee contends that Defendants should pay for Wetherhorn's charges, provide further treatment for his alcohol abuse, provide vocational rehabilitation benefits since he cannot return to work on an oil rig, and pay additional TTD benefits.


Defendants argue the alcohol abuse problem is not work related. If it is, they have paid all the compensation that is due. They mistakenly paid benefits for a period of time when Employee was not disabled, and this payment should be credited if we find the condition compensable and disabling.


Alternately, Defendants argue Employee has not cooperated with Wetherhorn; thus he has not minimized his disability. Accordingly, there are periods for which no benefits should be awarded. Further, they argue they should not be charged for Employee's failure to keep his doctor's appointments.


Based on Dr. Robinson's evaluation, Defendants contend Employee has returned to pre‑injury status in terms of his drinking, Therefore no further TTD benefits are due.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I. IS EMPLOYEE'S CONDITION COMPENSABLE?


The Alaska Supreme Court has repeatedly held that "injury" under the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act includes aggravations or accelerations of pre‑existing conditions. See, e.g., Burgess Construction v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981) (Smallwood II); Thornton v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board, 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966). Liability is imposed on the employer "whenever employment is established as a causal factor in the disability." Smallwood II, 623 P.2d 317 (quoting Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling,, 604 P.2d 590, 59798 (Alaska 1979)). A causal factor is a legal cause if "'it is a substantial factor in bringing about the harm' or disability at issue." Id, Whether an aggravation was a substantial factor must be determined by the following test: “[I]t must be shown both that the [disability] would not have happened 'but for' the [employment] and that the [employment] was so important in bringing about the disability that reasonable men would regard it as a cause and attach responsibility to it." State v. Abbott, 498 P.2d 712, 717 (Alaska 1972); Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers and Babler, 747 P.2d 528 (Alaska, 1987).


AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part: "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter."


In Smallwood II the Alaska Supreme Court held that the employee must establish a preliminary link between the injury and the employment for the presumption to attach. 623 P.2d at 316. Whether employment "aggravated, accelerated or combined with" a pre‑existing condition is a question of fact "usually determined by medical testimony." Id. (quoting Thornton, 411 P.2d at 210.)


To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence the injury was not work‑related. Id.; Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978). The Alaska Supreme Court "has consistently defined 'substantial evidence' as such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046 (quoting Thornton 411 P.2d at 210). In Fireman's Fund American Insurance Cos. v. Gomes, 544 P.2d 1013, 1016 (Alaska 1976), the Court explained two possible ways to overcome the presumption: (1) produce affirmative evidence the injury was not work‑related or (2) eliminate all reasonable possibilities the injury was work‑related. If the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury was not work‑related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence. Id. at 870. "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true." Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


Defendants acknowledge that the injury caused Employee to have a temporary psychological disability in the fall of 1986 through the spring of 1987. (Defendants' Hearing Brief, p. 8). Defendants argue that the downturn in the drilling industry broke the chain of causation. They contend Employee would have been laid off in May of 1986 even if he had not been injured. Furthermore, it is unlikely that he would have found employment with another company due to his lack of experience.


We disagree with Defendants' analysis. Employer's refusal to reemploy Employee because of his injury precipitated the onset of his alcohol abuse problems. Employer is still unwilling to rehire Employee because of the potential safety hazard caused by his eye injury. The reason for not rehiring Employee in August 1986 and now is the loss of vision resulting from the injury, not the downturn in the oil industry. We therefore find the causal connection has not been broken. We conclude the accident combined with or aggravated Employee's pre‑existing condition, and that combining with or aggravation is a substantial factor in his alcohol abuse.

II. IS EMPLOYEE'S CONDITION DISABLING? IF SO, FOR WHAT PERIOD OF TIME HAS EMPLOYEE BEEN DISABLED?


Defendants contend the temporary aggravation of Employee's alcohol abuse problem existed from August 1986 to, at the latest, April of 1987 when he attempted to secure work as a construction laborer in King Salmon.


Wetherhorn testified at the hearing that he believes Employee is still disabled from returning to work because of his alcohol abuse problem.


Robinson's July 16, 1988, letter indicates he thought et that time that Employee's drinking was still out of control:

It is my opinion that were he gainfully employed in an occupation he enjoyed, the drinking would come under control, at least to the degree present prior to the injury . . . .

In lieu of that, he is likely to benefit from an inpatient treatment program. He is drinking in an out‑of‑control fashion, and it is likely that an inpatient alcohol program would be effective in achieving sobriety. . . .

The patient is capable of gainful employment from a psychiatric standpoint. At least, a trial of employment seems worth considering. Should his drinking remain out of control and interfere with employment, then the logical next step would be inpatient alcohol treatment, . . .


However, as quoted above, Robinson's deposition testimony indicates he believes Employee's alcohol use returned to preinjury status by Spring 1987. (Robinson Dep. pp. 13, 49). We find Robinson's deposition testimony is inconsistent with his report. We find his report, written at the time of the examination, more accurately reflects Employee's situation. We find Employee "is drinking in an out‑of‑control fashion" and is not back to pre‑injury status. This finding is also supported by the testimony of Templeton and Adams. (Templeton Dep. p. 15; Adams Dep. p. 20 ‑ 21).


Defendants introduced evidence regarding Employee's drinking problems in 1976 and 1978. We find these incidents, which happened when Employee was 16 and 19 years old, are so remote they have little relevance and do not necessarily reflect his drinking habits in 1986. While there is evidence that he might have lost a job sometime before 1980 because of drinking, the same medical record mentioning the job loss also notes that "[h]e says he has cut down on his drinking since then [the 1978 reckless driving charge], and that he was "completely sober" when he was picked up for illegal parking." (Wood Dep., Exhibit 3).


Defendants also presented evidence that Employee had been drinking at the time he was assaulted in 1985. However, the assault occurred on a weekend and is consistent with the other evidence that before Employee's 1986 injury his drinking was confined to weekends.


We conclude Employee's alcohol abuse had not returned to pre‑injury level by Spring 1987 as Robinson opined. Instead, we find the out‑of‑control abuse continued through at least July 16, 1988, when Employee saw Robinson.


Although we find the disability continued through July 16, 1988, we do not find Employee entitled to compensation benefits for that entire period. In January 1988 Defendants asked Employee to be examined by a doctor of their choice. Employee refused to do so. Had the Defendants' choice of doctor been in this state, Employee's failure to attend would have been grounds to suspend and forfeit compensation. AS 23.30.095. As the doctor was not in this state, benefits cannot be forfeited.


However, on March 30, 1988, we ordered Employee to submit to the examination. Employee did not do so until July 16, 1988. We find benefits should be suspended from the time of Employee's scheduled examination in Seattle to July 16, 1988. See AS 23.30.110(9); AS 23.30.095(e).


We also suspend benefits for ten days in February, 1988. Although Defendants controverted paying for the treatment provided by Wetherhorn, Wetherhorn was willing to continue treating Employee even though Wetherhorn did not know if he would get paid. However, in February, 1988, Employee failed to keep appointments scheduled between February 1, 1988 and February 10, 1988. As an employee must do the utmost to minimize the disability, and as he failed to do so, we conclude benefits should be suspended for this period. Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Alaska Industrial Board, 17 Alaska 658 (D. Alaska 1958); See Vetter v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Board, 524 P.2d 264 (Alaska 1974).


Defendants have paid permanent partial disability (PPD) benefits from May 31, 1987 through April 11, 1988, plus an advance of $6,500.00 against future PPD benefits. These payments may be credited in full against the TTD benefits awarded herein. AS 23.30.155(I).


Effective July 17, 1988, Defendants are to reinstate permanent partial disability benefits. This is just an interlocutory order until a further examination is completed in accordance with this decision. This additional information will help us determine the correct category of benefits due after July 16, 1988. Permanent partial disability benefits are to be paid every two weeks, and we specifically order Defendants not to make any lump sum payments. AS 23.30.155(b).

III. IS EMPLOYEE'S PSYCHOLOGICAL TREATMENT COMPENSABLE?


We have found that Employee's increased alcohol abuse is compensable. Thus, he is entitled to medical treatment related to that condition, if it is reasonable and necessary.


Based on Robinson's testimony, a review of the testimony from Employee and other witnesses regarding Employee's condition after the injury, and our review of the American Psychiatric Association Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (Third Edition), we find that it is more likely that Employee suffers from an adjustment disorder rather than a post traumatic stress disorder.


However, the reason for the psychotherapy appears to be for the alcohol abuse, rather than the adjustment disorder. Of course, the two conditions may be interrelated. Wetherhorn testified that psychotherapy was reasonable and necessary to treat the alcohol abuse problem, and Robinson did not contradict this testimony. The increased alcohol abuse problem is compensable. We conclude Defendants are liable for the psychotherapy provided by Wetherhorn.


However, we do not find it reasonable to charge Defendants for Employee's failure to keep his scheduled appointments with Wetherhorn. We can understand Wetherhorn's need to charge for such last minute cancellations, but it is not reasonable to order Defendants to pay these charges. We conclude that Employee is responsible for the $900.00 for no show charges. We also find that charges for consultations with Employee's attorney are not compensable as a medical expense, although they may be compensable as a legal cost.


Robinson testified that Employee needs to return to work to control his alcohol abuse. Robinson also acknowledged that work alone may not be sufficient and Employee may need psychological treatment as well. (Robinson dep. p. 35). If Employee does not return to work, then inpatient care is needed to treat his alcohol abuse. (Robinson July 16, 1988 report).


Wetherhorn testified that Employee needs continued treatment to be able to return to work. Wetherhorn testified the he would need to treat Employee twice weekly for a month or two in order to determine if inpatient treatment would be necessary. Wetherhorn justified this treatment on the basis that it was less expensive than inpatient care. Wetherhorn believes inpatient care is not appropriate because the person has a "wet brain" which takes a week or so to dry out, and until the person's brain is dried out, treatment is not effective.


We question Wetherhorn's assessment of the effectiveness of inpatient care in view of Robinson's testimony on the appropriate care in general for an alcohol abuser. (Robinson Dep. pp. 35‑36). In view of Wetherhorn's testimony that trying to treat a "wet brain" is not effective, we question the reasonableness of Wetherhorn's proposed continued treatment and evaluation for another month or two on an outpatient basis. All of the evidence indicates Employee continues to abuse alcohol on a regular basis. Therefore, Wetherhorn would be attempting to treat someone with a "wet brain," which Wetherhorn testified is not effective.


While we would like to order Defendants to assist Employee in returning to work, in view of our subsequent ruling on Employee's request for vocational rehabilitation, we cannot do so. It appears Employee is not able to return to work until his alcohol abuse is returned to preinjury status. Based on both Robinson's and Wetherhorn's opinions, we find further treatment is necessary.


There is conflicting evidence on the appropriate type of treatment for Employee. We find an evaluation by another psychiatrist or psychologist would be helpful in resolving this conflict. 8 AAC 45.090; AS 23.30.110(g). The parties are directed to try to mutually agree within 14 days of the date of this decision upon a psychiatrist or psychologist who specializes in the treatment of alcohol abuse to examine Employee and render a decision on the most effective type of treatment needed, if any. If the parties agree upon a physician, Defendants must notify us of the physician's name and address within five days after the agreement.


If we have not been notified within 19 days after this decision is issued that the parties' have agreed upon a physician to examine Employee we shall select a physician. If the parties have not agreed upon a physician within 14 days after this decision is issued, each party has 14 days in which to submit to us the names, addresses, and curriculum vitae of not more than three physicians who the party wants to perform the examination. We shall then select a physician to perform the examination, though not necessarily from either party's list, and even if neither party submits a list. Defendants shall arrange for and pay for the examination by the physician agreed upon by the parties or which we select. If Employee fails to keep the appointment scheduled with the physician, Defendants may suspend his compensation benefits. AS 23.30.110(g).


After Employee has been examined and a report submitted, we will then decide what further care will be authorized, if any, and what benefits are due Employee.

IV. WHAT IS EMPLOYEE'S GROSS WEEKLY EARNINGS?


AS 23.30.220(a) provides in part:

The spendable weekly wage of an injured employee at the time of an injury is the basis for computing compensation. It is the employee's gross weekly earnings minus payroll tax deductions. The gross weekly earnings shall be calculated as follows:

(1) The gross weekly earnings are computed by dividing by 100 the gross earnings of the employee in the two calendar years immediately preceding the injury.

(2) If the board determines that the gross weekly earnings at the time of injury cannot be fairly calculated under (1) of this subsection, the board may determine the employee's gross weekly earnings for calculating compensation by considering the nature of the employee's work and work history.


The phrase "gross earnings" is defined in AS 23.30‑265(15) as "periodic payments, by an employer to an employee for employment before any authorized or lawfully required deduction or withholding of money by the employer. . . . ”


The Alaska Supreme Court has commented on the 1983 amendment to AS 23.30.220 in several recent opinions. In discussing section 220's history, the court stated in Phillips v Houston Contracting, Inc., 732 P.2d 544, 546 n.6 (Alaska 1987):

During the past decade, the statute's emphasis has shifted from present earnings to past earnings as the determinate of earning capacity. In 1977, the legislature repealed AS 23.30.220(l). Under the 1977 amendments, the average weekly was generally based on earnings during one of the three calendar years preceding the injury, without regard to earnings at the time of the injury . . . . in 1983, the legislature rewrote the section so that the compensation rate was based on average earnings during the preceding two calendar years . . . . The legislative history suggests that his shift in emphasis was "reasoned and intentional."

(Cites omitted).


More recently in Phillips v. Nabors Alaska Drilling, Inc., 740 P.2d 457, 460 n.7 (Alaska 1987), the court noted:

However, while the earlier version of the statute provided that the alternative wage calculation was to be based on "the usual wage for similar service rendered by paid employees under similar circumstances," former AS 23.30.220(3), the new statute provides that "the board may determine the employee's gross weekly earnings for calculating compensation by considering the nature of the employee's work and work history." AS 23.30.220(a)(2). The distinction emphasizes the point that the AWCB has considerable discretion to determine gross weekly earnings under subsection (a)(2).


Although Peck v. Alaska Aeronautical, Inc., 744 P.2d 663, (Alaska 1987), interprets a much older version of Section 220, the general discussion about wage calculation appears relevant to all cases:

An estimate of earning capacity is a prediction of what an employee's earnings would have been had he not been injured . . . . In making an award for temporary disability, the [Board] will ordinarily be concerned with whether an applicant would have continued working at a given wage for the duration of the disability. In making a permanent award, long‑term earning history is a reliable guide in predicting earning capacity.

Peck, at 666 (quoting Deuser v. State, 697 P.2d 647, 649‑50 (Alaska 1985), (quoting Argonaut Ins. Co. v. Industrial Accident Comm'n, 371 P.2d 281, 284 (Cal. 1962)).


In all of the many recent cases filed by the court which address the wage calculation issue, the court has always compared documented wages at the time of injury (or time of disability if they were greater than at time of injury) with documented historical earnings to determine which is a more reliable basis for predicting the future loss. This is true even if the duration of the disability is unknown or long‑term. Peck, No.3240; Phillips, 732 P.2d 544; Johnson v. RCA/OMS, Inc., 681 P.2d 905 (Alaska 1984).


Johnson discusses AS 23.30.220 as it existed before its 1983 amendment. In Johnson, 681 P.2d 907, the court held that the worker's wages at the time of injury should be used where the discrepancy between those wages and the wages obtained under the historical earnings formula is so substantial that the latter wages do not fairly reflect the worker's wage‑earning capacity.


In Deuser v. State, 697 P.2d 647, 648‑650 (Alaska 1985), the court expanded upon its holding in Johnson. In Deuser the court determined that the difference between the worker's wages at the time of injury and his historical wages was substantial. The court held that the wages at the time of injury should have been used in computing compensation benefits because the evidence presented showed that these wages would have continued during the period of disability. Id. at 649‑ 650.


The court held that Deuser's 25 weeks of temporary disability occurred during the period he probably would have been serving as an acting judge. Notwithstanding the language of As 23.30.220(3) in effect at the time of injury, the court stated: "The disparity between Deuser's probable future earnings during the period of disability, $970 per week, and the average wage yielded by application of the subsection (2) formula, $468 per Week, is substantial." Id. at 649 (emphasis added).


Finally, in State v. Gronroos, 697 P.2d 1047 (Alaska 1985), the court further expanded on its decisions in Johnson and Deuser. The Gronroos court noted that "[i]t is entirely reasonable to focus upon the probable future earnings during the period into which disability extends when the injured employee seeks temporary disability compensation." Id. at 1049 (citation omitted). The court also indicated that the employee's intentions as to employment in the future are relevant. Id. at 1049 n.2. See also Brunke v. Rogers and Babler, 714 P.2d 795 (Alaska 1986). By focusing on the likelihood that wages being earned at the time of injury will continue into the period of disability, we are in effect deciding whether the wages at the time of injury "fairly" reflect the wage loss the injured worker will suffer.


The parties agree that the subsection 220(a)(1) calculation does not fairly represent Employee's earnings at the time of the injury. We agree. He was unemployed in 1984, and worked only part of 1985.


We have found that Employee's disability from his 1986 injury continued through at least July 16, 1988. Employee relies upon the labor market survey performed by Mayes and argues he could be employed as a construction laborer making up to $28.00 per hour even if he was not employed in the oil industry. We agree. However, whether he worked construction or was working in an oil‑related industry, he would not have full‑time, year round employment.


The testimony from those employed in the oil drilling industry is that the number of weeks of work changed in 1986 shortly after Employee's injury. Most drillers went to a schedule of two weeks of work, followed by two weeks off work, This means a rig worker worked 26 weeks of the year. (Upchurch Dep. P. 10; Mead Dep. pp. 29 ‑ 31).


Under As 23.30.220(a)(2) as it existed at the time of the injury, we "may determine the employee's gross weekly earnings for calculating compensation by considering the nature of the employee's work and work history."


The nature of Employee's work at the time of injury was to work 35 weeks of the year. Shortly after the injury, the nature of this work was to work 26 weeks a year.


Employee's work history reflects fairly high earnings and consistent employment during the pipeline boom years. Thereafter, during the economic downturn he had difficulty securing high paying, full‑time work. During the period from 1983 through late 1985 he searched for work in the oil industry, but was not employed. During this time he took lower paying jobs in the fishing industry, as a security guard, and did some construction work. He finally found work as a roustabout and floorhand in late 1985, After his injury, the oil industry faced another economic downturn, and Defendants introduced evidence that it was questionable wether Employee would have been employed in the oil industry throughout the period of his disability.


Considering Employee's work and work history, we find a gross weekly earning of $925.52 more than fair. Using those gross weekly earnings, we find Defendants properly computed Employee's TTD rate at $523.12 per week. We deny Employee's request for an increase in his gross weekly earnings.

V. IS A PENALTY DUE FOR THE REDUCTION OF TTD BENEFITS?


As we have denied an adjustment in Employee's gross weekly earnings, we also deny Employee's request for a penalty under AS 23.30.155(e). Because Employee's earning history for the two years before the accident was low, under AS 23.30.175 Defendants could have paid the $110.00 weekly statutory minimum. However, they followed the Supreme Court's dicta in Phillips v. Nabors Alaska Drilling, Inc., 740 P.2d 457, 461 n. 9 (Alaska 1987), and paid the rate that "should" have been provided. We find no justification under either AS 23.30.155(e) or Phillips to assess a penalty when the TTD rate was unilaterally reduced. Defendants did not reduce the benefits below the amount due under AS 23.30.220(a)(l).
 We deny and dismiss Employee's claim for a penalty under AS 23.30.155(e) based on Defendants' unilateral reduction of Employee's compensation rate.

VI. IS EMPLOYER ENTITLED TO VOCATIONAL REHABILITATION BENEFITS?


At the time of Employee's injury AS 23.30.041(c), (d) and (i) provided in pertinent part:

(c) If an employee suffers a permanent disability that precludes return to suitable gainful employment,
 the employee is entitled to be full evaluated for participation in a rehabilitation plan within 90 days after the date of injury.

(d) A full evaluation by a qualified rehabilitation professional shall include a determination whether a rehabilitation plan is necessary and shall include the following specific determinations:

(1) whether the rehabilitation plan will enable the employee to return to suitable gainful employment;

(2) whether the employee can return to suitable gainful employment without the rehabilitation plan;. . . . 

(i) For purposes of this section, an employee is restored to suitable gainful employment if the employee can return to (1) work at the same or similar occupation with the same employer or an employer in the same industry as the employer at the time of injury; (2) an occupation using essentially the same skills as the job at the time of injury but in a different industry (3) an occupation using different skills but using the employee's academic achievement level at the time of injury; or (4) an occupation requiring an academic achievement level that is different from that attained at the time of injury. An employee shall be returned to suitable gainful employment in the order indicated in (1) ‑ (4) of this subsection.


We find Employee has been fully evaluated by Mayes. Mayes concluded Employee could return to suitable gainful employment. In connection with Employee's claim for an increase in his gross weekly earnings, Employee relied upon Mayes' evaluation to support his contention that he could be working at a job paying in excess of $20.00 but for the injury. We agreed. Based on that finding, we conclude Employee can return to suitable gainful employment earning close to the same wage as that used to compute his disability benefits. We deny Employee's request for further vocational rehabilitation benefits.

VII. IS EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO INTEREST, COSTS AND ATTORNEY'S FEE?


Under Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984), an employee is entitled to interest on compensation awarded because of the time value of money. In this case it appears that a large portion, Or perhaps all, of the amount awarded will be covered by the PPD benefits already paid by Defendants which are to be credited against the benefits due. Because Defendants paid PPD benefits, Employee has been fully or partially compensated and has not lost the time value of the money awarded. If the previously paid PPD benefits are not adequate to cover all the TTD awarded herein, interest is due on any additional TTD benefits paid.


Employee requested an opportunity to request actual fees if we only awarded medical benefits. We have awarded Employee additional TTD benefits and, therefore, we assume Employee seeks only the minimum statutory fee under AS 23.30.145(a).


For purposes of AS 23.30.145(a), we find Defendants controverted paying the additional TTD benefits we have awarded. Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d 352, 365 (Alaska 1979). We find the minimum statutory fee is due based on the TTD benefits awarded.


Employee requested costs, but did not itemize the costs. We direct Employee to submit an itemized list of costs to Defendants. Defendants should pay the reasonable costs that relate to issue upon which Employee prevailed, We retain jurisdiction to resolve disputes.

ORDER

1. Defendants shall pay TTD benefits for the period of May 30, 1987 through July 16, 1988. Permanent benefits paid during this period may be credited in full against this award. If the amount awarded for TTD benefits exceeds the PPD benefits paid, Defendants shall pay interest on the difference. Defendants shall resume PPD benefits as of July 17, 1988, subject to reclassification at a later date. Permanent partial disability benefits are to be paid every two weeks, and not in a lump sum.


2. Defendants shall pay $3,550.00 for Wetherhorn's charges. Employee is responsible for the $900.00 charged for failure to keep appointments.


3. The parties are directed to mutually agree upon a physician to examine Employee to determine whether further treatment is necessary, and the appropriate type of treatment. If the Parties cannot agree within 14 days of the date of this decision, they are to proceed in accordance with this decision. We retain jurisdiction to determine the type of treatment necessary, if any, and the appropriate classification of benefits due if treatment is necessary.


4. Employee's requests for an increase in his gross weekly earnings, a penalty and vocational rehabilitation benefits are denied and dismissed.


5. Defendants shall pay minimum statutory attorney's fee on the TTD benefits awarded herein.


6. Employee shall submit an itemized list of costs to Defendants. Defendants shall pay the reasonable costs related to the issue upon which Employee prevailed. We retain jurisdiction to resolve disputes on this issue.


DATED at Anchorage, Alaska this  17th day of August 1988.

ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

/s/ Rebecca Ostrom
Rebecca Ostrom, Designated Chairman

/s/ Mary A. Pierce
Mary A. Pierce, Member

/s/ Jacqueline S. Russell
Jackie S. Russell, Member

RJO:rjo

If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 20 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory injunction staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.

APPEAL PROCEDURES

A compensation order may be appealed through proceedings in Superior Court brought by a part in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

A compensation order becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board, and unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted, it becomes final on the 31st day after it is filed.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of Mark Johnson, employee/applicant v. Parker Drilling Company, employer, and CIGNA Companies- ALPAC/INA, insurer/defendants; Case No. 607625; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 17th day of August 1988.

Clerk

SNO

� Employee's attorney requested that, if we awarded only medical benefits, we allow her to submit a request for her actual fees for securing this benefit. Our preference is to have the attorney's fees issues submitted at the same time as the merits of the claim. Not only does this reduce our workload as we can issue one decision, but it also provides the parties with a fairer determination of the issue. Often the board members who originally heard the claim are not available when the attorney's fee issue is ready for decision. Even if they are, sometimes their recollection of the hearing has dimmed, making an accurate assessment less likely. However, as we have no rule prohibiting the bifurcation of the attorney's fee request from the merits, we are unable to enforce our preference.








� Of course, the holding and ultimate outcome of Peck are suspect as it is obvious the Court misunderstood AS 23.30.175.





� In this case, the $110.00 weekly minimum under AS 23.30.175 applied because it was greater than the amount due under AS 23.30.220(a)(1).


� "Suitable gainful employment" is defined as 'employment that is reasonably attainable in light of an individual's age, education, previous occupation, and injury, and that offers an opportunity to restore the individual as soon as practical to a remunerative occupation and as nearly as possible to the individual's gross weekly earnings as determined at the time of injury.


� We again encourage Defendants to assist Employee in returning to work. It is obvious from the medical testimony that it would be particularly beneficial to him. We are hopeful that the 1988 amendment to AS 23.30.041(f) will encourage employers to rehire their injured workers. Had Employer done so in this case, it is quite possible this claim would not have been so costly to them.








